# **Unorthodox Approaches to Public Participation in Authoritarian Regimes: the Making of China's Recent Healthcare Reforms**

by

### Yoel Korneich

### A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE

**DEGREE OF** 

#### **MASTER OF ARTS**

in

The Faculty of Graduate Studies

(Political Science)

#### THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

October 2011

© Yoel Kornreich, 2011

### **Abstract**

In recent years, non-democratic regimes have introduced a host of participatory forums. This paper asks why, given the absence of binding constitutional or institutional designs, authoritarian governments introduce, at their own initiative, participatory forums? To respond to this question, the paper suggests three theoretical possibilities: fragmented authoritarianism, enhancing legitimacy and information-gathering. Looking at the drafting of China's recent healthcare reforms--where the government enacted various forums of participation--the paper tests these theories. Its findings indicate that these theories are not mutually exclusive, as each could explain the causes for the introduction particular participatory forums. This paper argues that this analytical framework could extend beyond the scope of China's healthcare reform, and be applied to other episodes of policymaking both in China, and other non-democratic regimes.

## Preface

This research was approved by UBC Behavioral Research Ethics Board. Number of ethics certificate: H11-01366

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	İ
Preface	iii
Table of Contents	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Introduction	1
Chapter 1: Literature Review	3
Chapter 2: Theory and Observable Implications	7
2.1 Theoretical Frameworks	7
2.2 Observable Implications	8
2.2.1 Timing	g
2.2.2 Selection of Participants	g
2.2.3 Official Discourse on Participation	11
2.2.4 Extent of Media Coverage	12
2.2.5 Feedback Generated Through Participation	13
2.2.6 Government Response to Feedback	13
Chapter 3: Testing the Theories	16
3.1 Participation of Expert Intellectuals	16
3.2 The "Two Meetings": Elite Deliberation	23
3.3 First Online Portal: Indirect Participation of Professionals	27
3.4 Face to Face Interaction between Non-Elites and the Government	30
3.5 Second Online Portal: Indirect Public Participation	32
3.6 Mass Media: Amplification of the Online Portal	37
Conclusion	43
Ribliography	40

## Acknowledgements

I am first and foremost indebted to my supervisor, Alan Jacobs. For a newcomer into the discipline, Alan's course on qualitative methods has been an invaluable introduction into the craft of conducting research in political science. Alan also greatly assisted me in conceptualizing an analytical framework for my research, and throughout my work on this thesis, he has given me indispensable feedback. I am most grateful to Mark Warren, whose unconventional teaching of political theory and revisionary approach to the study of Chinese politics were a great source of inspiration for me in my graduate work. I am also thankful to Lisa Sundstrom and Anjali Bohlken for introducing me to the nascent literature on participation in authoritarian regimes. I would also like to thank my fellow graduates at the department, especially Han Zhen (Arc), Pascale Massot and Daniel Westlake, for providing me with an intellectually-engaging and supportive environment.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Liora and Avi Kornreich, for their love and unrelenting support. And, my partner, Lisi Feng, for her patience and delicious Cantonese soup.

## Introduction

In recent years, non-democratic regimes have introduced a host of participatory forums.

A variety of participatory forums enabled broad representation of diverse groups within society, and allowed for divergent segments of the population, as well as interests groups, to publicly air their concerns with respect to issues that directly affect their lives and livelihood. These participatory forums had considerable impact over policymaking processes.

Broad public participation is common in democratic systems. Ethos of citizens' sovereignty and government's accountability underwrite both legal and institutional arrangements that allow for participation and expression of ideas and interests. These arrangements also mandate democratic governments to credibly commit to responding to citizens' demands.

Non-democratic regimes, however, lack the ideational and institutional infrastructures that underlie public participation and government responsiveness in democratic systems.

Citizens' right to participate in the drafting of policies that directly affect their lives and government commitment to respond to the citizens' concerns are not anchored in binding constitutional or institutional mechanisms.

Participatory forums under authoritarian systems may not be identical to democratic regimes, as authoritarian regimes control the scope and domain of participation. Yet, scholarship on participation in authoritarian regimes, has not fully explored why, given the

absence of binding constitutional or institutional designs, authoritarian governments introduce, at their own initiative, participatory forums?

In trying to answer this question, this paper will begin by critically assessing the extant literature on participation in non-democratic settings. It will then suggest three possible theoretical frameworks--Fragmented Authoritarianism, enhancing legitimacy, and information-gathering--to explain an authoritarian government's reasons for encouraging public participation. These theories will be tested according to seven distinct indicators. Having outlined the theories and indicators, this paper will proceed to testing these theories through a case study--the drafting process of China's recent healthcare reforms, where the government introduced a variety of participatory forums. The paper will conclude with a discussion on the applicability of insights gained from this case study to other policymaking episodes in China and other non-democratic systems.

## **Chapter 1: Literature Review**

To approach these questions, the paper will first examine the extant literature on participation in authoritarian systems. It will critique some of the assumptions underlying studies on the prospects of political change in China, and will, then, capitalize on insights gained from a nascent literature on participation in China and other non-democratic regimes. Having reviewed this literature, this paper will define what it seeks to contribute to our knowledge of participation in authoritarian regimes.

In discussing China's future, Minxin Pei (2006) conceptualizes the 'trapped transition' paradigm. According to Pei, China's political elites are reluctant to pursue political reforms, as they fear that these policies would erode their hold on power. The Chinese Communist Party, as Pei argues, may introduce participatory practices, but these practices would be construed and superficial. The lack of political reform, Pei posits, would vitiate the ability of the state to gain the support and collaboration of the populace in maintaining economic development, and this would eventually result in economic stagnation, and an erosion of state capacity. Unlike Pei, this paper argues that recent participatory practices introduced by the Chinese government are substantial. These practices may enable China's authoritarian regime to avoid the predicament of 'trapped transition', and allow it to mobilize the populace for the task of economic development.

Contrary to Pei, there is also a literature on democratization in China. Authors within this paradigm tend to focus on two possible causal mechanisms. Bruce Gilley (2004) looks at

elite-driven democratization from the top, contending that a reform faction within the Chinese leadership is likely to promote democratization. Other scholars claim that democratization would commence at the grassroots level, through the introduction of democratic procedures, such as village elections, and later spread to the top levels of government (Manion, 1996; Jennings, 1997). Unlike this strand of literature, I contend that since Chinese elites do not opt for democratization these two causal mechanisms are unlikely--they would neither initiate democracy at the center, nor would they allow village democracy to spread beyond the grassroots level. In my research, I attempt to show that in order to understand current political changes in China we need to look at participatory practices introduced by the government, rather than at grassroots or elite level democratization.

Instead of searching for causes that would generate a democratic transition, other scholars tried to show that changes within the existing system induced more participation. The rise of a pluralized, commercialized media has allowed new actors--journalists, NGOs, low ranking officials--to influence policymaking (Mertha 2008). Growth in the business sector has led to the emergence of business lobbying vis-à-vis the government (Kennedy 2005). While concurring with the insights from these studies, this paper will attempt to explore a different form of participation. Rather than looking at participation that originates from below, this paper examines participation that is initiated by the government.

The argument of this paper resonates with an emerging literature on participatory practices in non-democratic regimes. This literature contends that participation in non-democratic regimes is employed for the accomplishment of two key goals. First, these regime elicit participation in order to garner popular support and cooperation with the regime, while, at the same time, containing contentious actions and co-opting potential opposition (Gandhi 2008; Richter 2009; 41; Rodan and Jayasuriya 2009). Second, authoritarian governments utilize participation not only in order to gain support, but also as a "public feedback mechanism" (Evans 2010; 18), in order to "attract substantive input from social organizations into the policy process" (Richter 2009; 61). Like these studies, this paper will also suggest two theories for explaining the causes for introducing participation: 1.) enhancing legitimacy--that is, generating popular support for the government and its policies; 2.) using consultation in order to gather technical information conducive for the refinement of policymaking processes. By testing these theories, this study will attempt to offer two complementary frameworks to the prevailing paradigm in the study of policymaking in China--Fragmented Authoritarianism (FA) (Lieberthal and Lampton 1992; 8-9; Lieberthal and Oksenberg 1988; 137-142; Mertha 2008; 2). It will show that FA alone cannot explain some of the key features of policymaking in contemporary China.

Most recently, He Baogang and Mark Warren--in a pioneering article on new modes of participation in China--have coined the term 'authoritarian deliberation'. The authors aver that deliberation is possible not only in democratic countries, but also in authoritarian

systems. Their argument is that the Chinese government introduces a host of both deliberative and consultative practices in order to garner legitimacy, gather information and reach consensus (He and Warren 2011; 274). In many ways, the objective of this paper is to complement the argument first laid out by He and Warren. Whereas their analysis has been primarily theoretical, in this paper, I hope--through focusing on the specific case of participation in China's healthcare reform--to empirically test their argument.

## **Chapter 2: Theory and Observable Implications**

### 2.1 Theoretical Frameworks

To uncover the causal mechanisms that induce participatory practices, this paper will examine three distinct theoretical possibilities: 'fragmented authoritarianism', 'enhancing legitimacy' and 'information-gathering'. Afterwards, it will outline their observable implications.

Since the late 1980s, FA has been the dominant paradigm in the study of policymaking in contemporary China. This theoretical framework assumes a disjointed structure of authority within China's bureaucratic system, along both vertical and horizontal lines. According to FA, the processes of devising and implementation of policies are subject to constant bargaining between contesting administrative units with rivaling interests (Lieberthal and Lampton 1992; 8-9; Lieberthal and Oksenberg 1988; 137-142; Mertha 2008; 2). This paper assumes two possible causal links between FA and participation. First, certain parties within the bureaucracy may utilize participation in order to gain the upper hand in the bargaining process--through the solicitation of participants whose positions are likely to be consonant with their own. Second, participation of external actors might be a last recourse embraced by all parties within the bureaucracy after failing to arrive at a consensus. All parties may hope that actors neutral to the bureaucratic conflict could formulate a solution that is agreeable to all contending bureaucratic factions.

While in FA intra-bureaucratic disagreements would be the source of participation, a second theory would view an authoritarian government's endeavor to enhance its legitimacy as the core motivation for promoting participation (Guo 2010). According to this theory, participation would enable a non-democratic regime to create a semblance of citizens' participation, and furnish the government with an opportunity to publicize its responsiveness to the people's concerns. In this manner, the regime would strengthen its popular base of support.

Contrary to enhancing legitimacy, a third theory sees the need to gather information as the impetus for eliciting public participation. Rather than a 'window dressing', or a populist device to gain support, the primary purpose of these participatory practices, according to this theory, would be to establish a channel through which an authoritarian regime would derive feedback from the populace, and utilize it to refine and adjust policymaking processes. The motivation for establishing participatory forums, as this theory postulates, would be to accomplish efficiency in the government's work.

## 2.2 Observable Implications

To test each of these three theories, this paper will explore the observable implications in relation to seven indicators. While the first indicator refers to direct evidence on the origins of participatory practices, the other indicators are all related to the design of each of the participatory forums: timing, selection of participants, official discourse on participation, extent of media coverage, type of feedback generated through participation, and

government's response to this feedback. For each of these of indicators, the juxtaposition of the distinct observable implications for each of the three theories would furnish us with the analytical tools for identifying the causal mechanisms inducing participation. While attempting to lay out unique observable implications for each the theories, this paper does not rule out the possibility that these theories may not be mutually exclusive.

#### **2.2.1 Timing**

Examining the timing for the enactment of the various participatory forums, at different points during the policymaking process, one could draw conclusions on the government's goals. If participation would be introduced right after contending bureaucracies failed to reach an agreement, then the proper analytical framework would be FA.

If participation would start after the government finalized the policy plan, then we could ascertain that it is driven by the quest for legitimacy. Participation would merely be a 'window dressing' device advanced in order to legitimize a policymaking process from which the citizens were excluded. Yet, for gathering information the government would introduce participation prior to devising the policy plan, so that feedback generated in the process could have a substantial impact on the policy.

#### 2.2.2 Selection of Participants

As for the selection of participants, in the case of FA, the composition and number of the actors invited to attend would be limited. If a certain faction exploits participation in order to get the upper hand in the bureaucratic competition, we would see the exclusive selection of

participants whose positions are in agreement with this faction. If participation is the product of a joint effort by all bureaucratic parties to move away from an impasse in the bargaining process, then they would invite outside actors who are assumed to be neutral to the bureaucratic contestation. Or, in selecting participants, they would attempt to have a balanced composition of participants, so that the positions of all bureaucratic factions would be represented. If participation is promoted in order to resolve bureaucratic disputes, it is likely that these bureaucracies would solicit the advice of expert intellectuals, as their expertise in the policy issues could assist the bureaucracies to formulate guidelines for a compromise.

Whereas in FA the participation circle would be limited, in the case of legitimacy, representation would be the key. Since the objective of participation is to gain the public's support, rather than input, the government would seek to demonstrate that diverse social groups and stakeholders are all attending the participatory forums, and that their opinions are being considered.

Contrary to 'legitimacy', in 'information gathering' representation would not be a concern, since the government does not intend to utilize participation for public relations ends. But, while representation is not central to information gathering, the principle of inclusion is important, as some feedback from the general public could generate information which is indispensable for the refinement of the policymaking process. Yet, while encouraging feedback from the general public, the government would primarily target participants who are able to provide informed, technical advice on policymaking. As in FA,

this would include expert intellectuals. But, in addition to them, the process would also consist of practitioners and professionals who posses knowledge and experience that are relevant to particular policy issues.

#### 2.2.3 Official Discourse on Participation

In FA there would be little official discussion on the objectives of the participation forum as it is intended to solve intra-bureaucratic conflicts, rather than polish the government's public image. The discourse is expected to be neutral, and simply contain information about the opening of this outlet for participation.

If the government's objective in initiating participation is to garner legitimacy, rather than resolve internal disagreements, then, the introduction of participation would be accompanied by a government endeavor to utilize it as a public relations stratagem. The government would exploit participatory practices to extensively publicize its benevolence, empathy and responsiveness toward the populace. And, in inviting the public to participate, the government, rather than asking for feedback on specific issues, would simply urge the public to express their opinions.

Contrary to legitimacy, in information gathering, the official promotion of participatory practices would not be accompanied by rhetoric on the benevolence and responsiveness of the government--as in FA, this would be a neutral discourse informing the populace about the enactment of a participatory forum. The government's announcement on participation, contrary to legitimacy, would be stated in a more specific manner, inviting

participants to respond to particular policy issues, with which the government is grappling, rather than expressing their general opinions.

#### 2.2.4 Extent of Media Coverage

The extent of media coverage of participation could also enable us to identify the relevant theoretical framework. In FA, it is possible that the attempt of different factions within the government to use the media as leverage in the bureaucratic struggle would eventually contribute to increased media attention to the participatory forum. But, if the enactment of participation is an outcome of a joint effort of the rivaling factions, in order to disentangle a gridlock, then the extent of media coverage of the process would be low, as these bureaucracies seek the suggestions of expert intellectuals, and have little interest in having the general public involved in the process.

If the government intends to utilize participatory practices for enhancing legitimacy, then we would expect to see extensive coverage of the participation process, as the government would exploit it to communicate to the populace its concern for their opinions. For 'gathering information', as in the case of legitimacy, we would expect to observe some effort to publicize the introduction of participatory practices, in order to inform the public and elicit attendance. Contrary to legitimacy, however, the degree of media coverage would be smaller, as the mainstay of the process would be consultation with expert intellectuals and professionals.

#### 2.2.5 Feedback Generated Through Participation

If FA is valid, the suggestions raised in the participatory forums, prompted by fissures within the bureaucracy, would address the concerns of these bureaucracies. Whether the participants' proposals tilt toward the positions of specific factions within the government, or they represent a neutral stance, they would all focus on the key issues of dissension, and suggest strategies to solve them.

In cases where the impetus for participation is legitimacy, we would see brief and cursory feedback. Since the purpose of participation is to publicize that it takes place, rather than generate input, the government would design it in manner that elicits predictable responses that do not constitute a challenge to the government's policy plan. This feedback may contain the expression of grievances with respect to certain well known problems within the system, yet it would not include practical proposals on how to address these issues. In the case of 'information gathering', however, we would expect to see concrete and detailed policy suggestions on how to improve the policymaking process.

#### 2.2.6 Government Response to Feedback

The government's response to the feedback would vary in accordance with its goals in initiating participation. If it was triggered by FA, the government would embrace either suggestions that entail a compromise between contending bureaucratic parties, or those that resonate with the stances of the strongest bureaucratic faction.

In case of legitimacy, the government's response to feedback would primarily target the general public, rather than address the issues which are at the heart of the bureaucratic controversy. We may see the government boasting about its willingness to listen to the public, though no substantial public input would be absorbed. Or, if the government decides to respond to the people's suggestions, it would endorse populist measures that intend to pacify a large group of the population, so as to win the public approval of the policy. For 'information gathering', however, we would observe government's incorporation of technical suggestions, which could lead to improved policymaking outcomes, and which would not necessarily appeal to a large group of the populace.

This section outlines the observable implications unique for each of these theories. To establish that FA is valid, would require that: participation would occur in the aftermath of a bureaucratic gridlock, the number of participants would be limited, government discourse on it would be neutral and the extent of media coverage would be minimal, and both the feedback generated and government response to it would refer to issues that are at the heart of the bureaucratic contention. In legitimacy, however, participation would take place at a late stage in the policymaking process, the selection of participants would emphasize representation, the official discourse would underscore government responsiveness and media coverage would be extensive. The content of the feedback would be cursory and predictable, and the government may respond to it in a populist fashion. For "information gathering", we would expect that participation would commence at an early phase in the policymaking

process, and that participation would be limited to experts and professionals, though there would be limited space for inclusion of the general public. Official discourse would be neutral and the extent of coverage would be smaller, compared to "legitimacy". The feedback generated, nevertheless, would contain substantive policy suggestions, which would later be absorbed by the government.

## **Chapter 3: Testing the Theories**

To test the applicability of each of these distinct theories to participatory practices in authoritarian regimes, this paper will examine the particular case of the making of the recent rounds of healthcare reforms in China (2006-2009). In the course of drafting this policy, the Chinese government introduced various participatory forums: consultation with expert intellectuals and international organizations, discussions and debates at the "Two Meetings" of China's National People's Congress (NPC) and China People's Consultative Conference (CPPCC), two online participation portals open to the public (2006 and 2008), media interviews with key stakeholders, and meetings between government leaders and representatives of diverse groups within society. Each of these forums is a distinct case, and the government's reasons for introducing each of them may be different. In addition, there may be more than one reason for the introduction of these forums. To explore the causes for initiating each of these participatory forums, this section will now examine each case according to the aforementioned indicators, and draw conclusions in regard to the theoretical frameworks that apply to the each of the particular instance of government-sponsored participatory forums.

## 3.1 Participation of Expert Intellectuals

This paper would first probe into the case of participation of expert intellectuals and international organizations in the drafting process. The participatory practices involving a

small elite group commenced in March 2007, when the Healthcare Reform Coordinating Small Group--the inter-ministerial body vested with the responsibility for devising the blueprint for reform--invited outside actors to submit blueprints for the healthcare reform. Among these organizations were: Beijing University, the State Council Research Development Centre (DRC), Fudan University, WHO, World Bank and McKinsey & Company. Later, the government also solicited Beijing Normal University for a blueprint, and Renmin and Tsinghua universities submitted proposals at their own initiative. A tenth proposal, which represented the views of the medical profession, was eventually solicited from Zhongshan University.

Looking at the origins of this opening the drafting process for participation of outside actors, we can see that FA precipitated this outcome, after negotiations inside the Healthcare Reform Coordinating Small Group among the key stakeholders in reform--Ministry of Health (MOH), Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security (MOHRSS), Ministry of Finance (MOF) and National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC)--reached a deadlock.

The primary source of disagreements was the method of funding for public hospitals. As the government department responsible for the management of hospitals, the MOH pushed for a supply side solution, where the bulk of government financing would be directly transferred to healthcare providers. Being the ministry in charge of social security, the MOHRSS resisted it, and advocated a demand side solution, where the majority of government funding would be invested in health insurance. The MOF and NDRC aligned

with the MOHRSS, as they believed that a demand side solution, which would induce competition among healthcare providers for insurance compensation, would prompt fiscal efficiency and lead to reduced healthcare costs (Du and Zhang 2007; Zhu 2011).

The same divisions also persisted in the inter-ministerial controversy over the management of public hospitals. The NDRC, MOF and MOHRSS opted for a separation between the MOH and direct management of public hospitals, so that the MOH would be in a position to oversee the work of hospitals. These departments were also supportive of the entrance of private capital into public hospitals, and the granting of a status of an independent legal person to public hospitals. But, while these departments thought that these measures would increase efficiency and prevent the waste of public resources, the MOH opposed these policies, which would diminish its authority. Instead, the MOH suggested a system of complete integration between government administration and hospitals (*shouzhi liang tiaoxian*), in which hospitals' expenses would be covered by the government, and the former also would remit their revenues to the latter. In order to protect its control over the healthcare system, the MOH also opposed privatization of public hospitals (Du and Zhang 2007; Hsiao and Yip 2008; Wang 2009d; Yang 2008; Zhu 2011).

Media reports, as well as both English and Chinese language scholarship--which are based on interviews with government officials or scholars attending this process of government consultation--all confirm that in February 2007 the government decided to turn to outside actors as a consequence of these disagreements, after the government departments

had not been able to arrive at a consensus (Du and Zhang 2007; Thompson 2009; 59; Xinhua 2008a; Zhu 2011). FA here was clearly the origin of this participatory practice.

The composition of participants also indicates that FA was the cause for opening the intra-government policymaking process to outside actors. The circle of consultants was quite limited, and the participants were a small group of elite intellectuals from China's top universities and renowned international organizations--experts in the field who may have the capacity to disentangle issues of deep disagreements inside the bureaucracy. It seems that the selection of consultants was motivated both by an attempt to arrive at a balance between the contending factions, and, at the same time, to solicit neutral views that may be acceptable to all parties. The consultation included the proposals of Fudan University, Beijing University (led by Li Ling) and DRC, which resonated with the positions of the MOH, and the proposals of Renmin University Beijing Normal University and Beijing University (led by Liu Guo'en), which shared some commonalities with the stances of the MOHRSS, MOF and NDRC. Yet, this consultation also included outsiders with views that did not necessarily align with the positions of particular government departments--WHO and World Bank. This evidence demonstrates that the selection of participants was motivated by FA--the government selected a small of group experts, hoping that they would be able to suggest ideas on how to overcome bureaucratic disputes.

Official discourse on this consultation was quite succinct. The media briefly reported about it, and the blueprints have never been made public. Only the key principles of each

proposal was reported (Sohu 2008c). There was no attempt to utilize this consultation for conveying any particular message to the public. This lack of a distinct discourse could ascertain that the purpose of this participation forum had nothing to do with engaging the public--it was enacted in order to settle intra-government disputes.

In spite of the neutral discourse on this process, throughout the drafting period, the Chinese academics selected for the consultation process attended a high profile media debate on China's healthcare reform--an indicator that may negate FA. Yet, the extensive coverage of this debate was not the direct result of FA. The debate among intellectuals started before the government initiated this participatory practice in March 2007. In July 2005, the State Council's Development Research Centre (DRC) published a report which blamed the marketization of healthcare services for the vulnerabilities of China's healthcare system. This report elicited critique from intellectuals advocating marketization of healthcare services, and ignited a media debate. The fact that the key figures in this debate--Li Ling (Beijing University), Gordon Liu (Beijing University), Gu Xin (Beijing Normal University) were later solicited by the government for consultation may have contributed to increased media interest in their views. But, even if FA, here, led to an intensification of the media debate, it was not the primary cause of it. Also, there is no evidence that specific factions within the government exploited the media appearances of particular intellectuals to push forward their agenda. The extensive media coverage of the consultation process could not be directly attributed to FA.

In fact, the debate on healthcare reform was part of a broad elite wrangle on the trajectory of China's development. Concomitantly to the debate on healthcare reform, there were also other public debates on the restructuring of China's State Owned Enterprises and the Property Law, where the social implications of previous market reforms were criticized (Li 2010; Zhao 2008). In the particular debate on the healthcare reform, the ideological differences also represented the bureaucratic fault lines--the positions of the proponents of increased government management of healthcare services were consonant with the preferences of the MOH, whereas the views of the advocators of marketization of health services coincided with the stances of the MOHRSS, MOF and NDRC. Yet, the intellectual debate represented a deep ideological struggle inside China's elite which transcended bureaucratic interests. This debate was not a direct consequence of FA.

While the extensive media debate is not consistent with the observable implications of FA, the feedback generated from this participatory point to bureaucratic fissures. The core of the majority of the proposals submitted to the government focused on macro issues which were of concern to the contending bureaucracies--methods of government funding of healthcare services, and management of public hospitals.

The government's response to feedback from this consultation reflected the outcome of the intra-bureaucratic competition. The faction of the MOHRSS, MOF and NDRC prevailed, as the majority of government funding for healthcare reform--two thirds--was funneled toward a demand side option, while one third of it toward s supply side (Sohu 2009a). The

feedback that was absorbed into the policy plan reflected suggestions that were favorable to the winning faction. The draft endorsed the strategies for encouraging private capital to enter public hospitals (China.com 2009), which was first suggested by the proponents of marketization among the expert intellectuals. The government's response to the blueprints represented the outcome of the bureaucratic competition.

Having demonstrated that the solicitation of expert intellectuals was driven by FA, we still cannot dismiss the possibility that the need for information gathering also prompted this call for intellectuals to submit their proposals to the government. The policy issue on which the participants were consulted--a comprehensive overhaul of China's healthcare system--is an intricate endeavor that bureaucracies alone may not always be equipped with the appropriate technical knowledge. This consultation took place at an early phase in the drafting process, indicating that input from this process could have had a potential for having a substantial impact over the policy plan. The small number of participants included distinguished specialists who may be able to disentangle some of these complexities. If we examine the feedback generated in the process, as well as the government response to it, we could see that some of the suggestions raised by the WHO, such as the construction of an infrastructure of grassroots clinics and the a system of basic medicines (Thompson 2009)--which were not directly related to issues of bureaucratic contention--were endorsed in the final draft of the healthcare reform. Moreover, some of the recommendations from the tenth proposal by Zhongshan University, which did not address the primary concerns of the

bureaucracies, were also absorbed into the new policy. In particular, the new reform stipulated the granting of special benefits to medical doctors willing to work in grassroots clinics, and also setting the rate of insurance compensation for outpatient services at grassroots clinics at a higher level than other hospitals (Xinhua 2008e). This shows that in addition to FA, the consultation process was prompted by the government's need for technical advice on an extremely complex policy issue.

The possibility that this consultation was motivated by the search for legitimacy can be ruled out. The government included here a very small elite circle, while the public was excluded from participation. And the government never exploited this forum to publicize its responsiveness to the populace.

## 3.2 The "Two Meetings": Elite Deliberation

In addition to soliciting the proposals of expert intellectuals, the Chinese government also encouraged discussion on the healthcare reform at the annual "Two Meetings" of the National People's Congress (NPC), and the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC) from 2006 to 2009. At the CPPCC, an advisory body to the government--primarily composed of non-party members--a special committee of professionals representing the health sector conducted discussions, and also held face to face question and answer sessions with the Minister of Health (People.com 2007). Both members of CPPCC and Representatives from the NPC--China's legislature--also submitted proposals

to the government in regard to healthcare policies (MOH 2007). And, members of both assemblies were interviewed extensively about their positions on the healthcare reform, and the media also invited them to attend public debates on these policies (Sohu 2008b; Sohu 2009). The indicators examined here are consistent with the observable implications for both 'legitimacy' and 'information gathering'.

The annual gatherings of the NPC and CPPCC took place in March of 2006, 2007, prior to the formalization of a plan for healthcare reform by the government. This could possibly imply that feedback from these assemblies was taken seriously by the government. Yet, when the "Two Meetings" were held in 2008 and 2009, the government ministries had already finalized the key components of the reform. Moreover, the "Two Meetings" of 2009, occurred in the first two weeks of March, only three weeks before the public release of the final draft, in April 7, 2009. This could possibly suggest that the "Two Meetings" during these years served primarily as "window dressing" for enhancing legitimacy.

The selection of participants for this participatory forum also point out to both legitimacy and information gathering. The members of the assemblies attending the deliberations on healthcare reform were primarily an elite group of professionals--senior medical doctors and hospital directors, as well as CEOs of pharmaceutical companies. Their participation in the deliberation conveyed to professional elites a sense that they were represented in the process. Yet, because of their practical experience of the medical system, their inclusion also made sense from the point of information gathering.

To compensate for the lack of non-elite representation in these deliberations, the official media tried to emphasize and elicit participation of these groups. Even though deliberations on healthcare at the "Two Meetings" consisted of elites, the national TV devoted great attention to the participation of a rural medical doctor and an NPC member, Ma Wenfang, in these discussions (CCTV 2008). Furthermore, in preparation for the "Two Meetings" the website of *Xinhua* news, the central government's outlet, invited the public to discuss the issues pertaining to the healthcare reform which concern them the most, and also provide their own advice and recommendations (Xinhua 2007; Xinhua 2008b). In this manner, non-elites gained some representation at the "Two Meetings". These practices, which seem to have had no substantial impact on policymaking, could suggest that this device was also deployed toward the expansion of deliberation to the general public in order to enhance legitimacy.

Examining the official discourse on the work of NPC and the CPPCC, it is evident that obtaining legitimacy is one of the key goals of deliberation at the "Two Meetings". The media depicts the "Two Meetings" as forums that enable the discussion on issues that are directly relevant to the people's livelihood, problems that are of key concern for most of the public (Xinhua 2008b). This discourse on the engagement of the "Two Meetings" in the people's problems served to entrench an image of a responsive state that is considered about the people's problem. Similarly, the portrayal of premier Wen Jiabao's empathy to Ma

Wenfang's description of the poor state of medical services in rural China also assists in crafting this discourse of a benevolent government (CCTV 2008).

In addition, the media coverage of the "Two Meetings" bolstered the notion of open deliberation. The official media report on the discussion at CPPCC between the Minister of Health and members of the assembly emphasized that this deliberation epitomized democracy, and the participants, when interviewed, praised the open discussion and reiterated that idea that they could say whatever they pleased (Joy.cn 2009). The Minister of Health was also interviewed, and asked to clarify the key points of reform (People.com 2009). These rituals of debate and discussion conveyed a semblance of a responsive government that is willing to listen to critique and feedback from society. This notion of government responsiveness was further reinforced by an immense degree of media coverage which emphasized the openness and comprehensiveness of these deliberations.

From the content of the discussion, however, we can ascertain that enhancing legitimacy was not the sole purpose of the government in encouraging deliberation. The proposals and suggestions of the members of the "Two Meetings" discussed in depth key issues, such as the integration of urban and rural medical insurance systems, citizens participation in oversight over pharmaceutical companies, training of medical doctors, the compensation mechanism for medical doctors and other. These comments could ascertain that gathering information is also an important component of this consultation procedure.

In addition, at the "Two Meetings", the Deputy Minister of Health, Huang Jiefu, made contentious remarks. Contrary to the formal position of his ministry, he publicly dismissed the system of *shouzhi liang tiaoxian*—in which the government covers the expenses of public hospitals, while they remit their revenues back to government—arguing that it would erode the motivation of healthcare providers (China News 2008). He also criticized the consultation with expert intellectuals for the exclusion of the views of the medical personnel from this process. (21cbh.com 2008). These polemical remarks show that discussions at the "Two Meetings" are not for "window dressing". They focus on concrete issues of contention.

Judging by the feedback absorbed in the final draft, it is also possible to consider the Two Meetings not only as a forum for enhancing legitimacy, but also for gathering information. According to one account, prior to the opening of the "Two Meetings" in March 2009, recommendations of members of the CPPCC to increase the rate of nurses, and standardize the training of medical doctors were incorporated into the final draft of the healthcare reform (G. Liu 2009). This input may not be directly attributed to the CPPCC, as it was generated before its meeting, yet, it does suggest that the government genuinely considered the views of members of the "Two Meetings".

## 3.3 First Online Portal: Indirect Participation of Professionals

Aside from direct interaction between elite professionals and the government, the latter also enabled other professionals to indirectly participate in the policymaking process. In

October 2006, the Chinese government opened an internet portal, "My Advice and Suggestions regarding China's Healthcare reform", for public feedback on the healthcare reform. From its opening until July 2007, 5463 responses had been posted.

The opening time of this portal could indicate that information gathering was the primary impetus. In October 2006, when this portal commenced, the Healthcare Reform Coordinating Small Group started its work. Since, at that stage, the Small Group had not yet finalized the key guidelines of the new policy, this participation could have potentially had a significant influence on the policymaking process.

The portal was formally opened to all the people, yet the guidelines for responses could have possibly excluded non-professional audiences. In the statement inviting the public to participate, respondents were advised to provide suggestions on particular issues such as, health management and delivery, health investment mechanisms, health security systems, supervision of health services (Baidu 2006). This statement most likely targeted people within the medical industry, who possessed experience and practical knowledge of the system.

Looking at the extent of publicity, we see a modest degree of government attempt to promote the online portal. The official state outlets informed the public about it, so that people could attend. Yet, there was no significant attempt to use it for the purpose of public relations.

Reading the responses on the portal, one may sense that this was a forum for genuine information gathering, as suggestions were very informative and elaborate. While, at this stage, I am unable to accurately trace what particular feedback from this portal had eventually been absorbed into the policymaking process, it is plausible to assume that it did influence the policymaking process. Issues frequently raised by the respondents--strengthening the infrastructure of grassroots clinics, coordinating between these clinics and public hospitals, and separating pharmaceuticals from hospitals (NDRC 2007)--have all been key issues of attention in drafting the blueprint of reform. More research, nevertheless, still needs to be done in order to ascertain that.

Even though most of the indicators demonstrate that information gathering triggered the opening of the online portal, the official discourse on this portal point out that legitimacy may have been an additional motive. The statement inviting the public to attend the portal conveyed the government's responsiveness to the people, and its commitment to design a process which guarantees representation. This statement mentioned that: "since this work (of the government) is directly related to the people's concrete interests, we would extensively listen to insights from all social groups on how to solve the people's problem of 'seeing a doctor is difficult, seeing a doctor is expensive', and seek the suggestions and opinions of the entire society" (Baidu 2006). The notion that the government conducted participation so as to understand and act according to the people's interests was further reiterated in the official media (Xinhua 2006; Xinhua 2006a). In spite of this discourse on the government's

benevolence, the modest degree of media coverage indicates that legitimacy here took the backseat to information gathering. Since the origins of this participatory forum cannot be traced to fragmentation within the government administration, and the feedback does not necessarily address issue that are of concern to the bureaucratic dispute, the framework of FA here is inconsequential.

# 3.4 Face to Face Interaction between Non-Elites and the Government

Another participatory forum--which contrary to the "Two Meetings" and the first online consultation--also included broad non-elite representation took place on April 11 and 15 2008, when the State Council invited to its work meeting on the healthcare reform 22 representatives of various social groups. Analyzing the indicators, one can identify legitimacy as the trigger for conducting this forum. The meeting took place in April 2008, when the government ministries were at the late stages of drafting the first blueprint for reform. The selection of participants was designed in a manner that emphasized representation. It included a diverse array of stakeholders. And, while some of participants were elites--expert intellectuals, leaders of the pharmaceutical industry--the majority of the citizens participating represented non-elite groups, an important device for acquiring broad legitimacy. Among the groups attending this consultation were: labor migrants, rural residents enrolled in the rural medical scheme or the rural medical assistance program, officials responsible for the

management of rural medicals scheme at the county level, chairmen of trade unions, workers of State Owned Enterprises and foreign enterprises, heads of neighborhood committees, and middle school principals (Xinhua 2008c).

The participation of these non-elite groups was exploited by the government to publicize its responsiveness. In this meeting, premier Wen Jiabao declared that he was now opening the gates of Zhongnanhai--the headquarters of central government--so as to allow the people to air their opinions. At this meeting, the premier said that this was the first time that the government convened such a session. The purpose of the meeting, according to him, was to listen to opinions of healthcare workers, who are at the front line of this healthcare reform, as well as the people at the grassroots level--the target of this reform. The official media amplified this discourse of government's empathy, stressing that the premier attentively listened to the speakers, asked questions, and also wrote down their suggestions (Xinhua 2008c). This session was widely reported in the media. There is no available public information on the content of feedback generated in the meeting, and there is no indication that it was considered in the policymaking process. If further research ascertains that input from this forum was not absorbed into the final draft of this healthcare reform, then this meeting was clearly intended for enhancing legitimacy. There is no evidence that the opening of this forum had any causal link to FA.

## 3.5 Second Online Portal: Indirect Public Participation

In addition to inviting representatives of the public for a face to face consultation forum, the government also sought to solicit the views of the general public. In October 2008--after the government finalized and unveiled a blueprint for the healthcare reform--a second online portal was opened, and premier Wen Jiabao declared that the public again was invited to submit its views (Xinhua 2008). The process took place from mid October to mid November, 2008. According to government sources more than 35, 000 responses had been received received (China Economics 2008; People.com 2008).

Our indicators, as well as a comparison with the earlier portal of 2006, point out that 'enhancing legitimacy' was a central reason for the opening of the internet portal. Yet, they also demonstrate that it was not the exclusive objective of the government. 'Information gathering was an additional goal.

Examining the timing of the introduction of the portal, we could clearly identify 'legitimacy' as a key trigger for initiating participation. While the timing for the first online forum was in October 2006--long before the contours of the policy plan were formulated--the second online portal was opened in October 2008, after the Small Group had already concluded the key principles of healthcare reform, and there was no room for substantial changes.

The selection of participants also indicates that legitimacy was a central prompt for opening this online outlet, yet it does not preclude 'information gathering'. In the first portal,

the official statement invited all groups of society to attend. But, in practice, the statement inviting the people to participate--which urged the public to advise and recommend on specific issues--barred those who lacked professional knowledge from contributing. In the second portal, however, participants were only asked to express their opinions on China's healthcare reform (NDRC 2008). Media reports indicate that this elicited a more inclusive process. 20% of the respondents, as media reports claim, were rural people, labor migrants and workers--95% of whom earning less than 50,000 Yuan per year. Even though the majority of participants--about 55%--were medical personnel, from reading the responses, it is clear that they were authored not only by senior medical doctors and hospital directors, but also by medical doctors at grassroots rural clinics (People.com 2008). The composition of participants shows that this participatory forum, compared to the earlier one, was more representative, and potentially helped the government to gain legitimacy. The inclusion of these groups, nonetheless, is not a unique requirement for legitimacy. Information gathering, while mainly relying on feedback from experts and professionals, also, to some extent, entails the solicitation of input from the grassroots level, in order to adjust policies to their needs.

The official discourse on this online consultation portal, however, primarily demonstrates that the search for legitimacy was a major concern. Even if the rate of participation of low income people was exaggerated in official media reports, it furnished the government with a claim for representation of these groups. Official media reports also boasted that many of the respondents praised the current reform, and they cited respondents claiming that the opening

of this portal attests to the government's respect for the people, as well as for its sincerity and resoluteness to tackle the problem of "seeking medical care is difficult and expensive" (People.com 2008). But, while the official depiction of the participatory forum emphasized the people's support of the policy and the government's benevolence, it refrained from discussing the relatively low participation rate--35,000 people out 1.3 billion citizens. The attempt to mask this displeasing facet of public participation is also an indicator for legitimacy. In spite of the low rate of participation, the media devoted a great deal of attention to this portal. This further ascertains that legitimacy underlay the opening of this portal

The online forums also seem to have been utilized not only for enhancing legitimacy.

Reading many of the online responses, it appears that rather than raising concrete suggestions on how to solve the problems of China's medical system, many of the respondents took advantage of this platform to air their grievances regarding China's healthcare system.

Patients criticized high drug prices and hospital pharmacies' efforts to avoid the selling of cheap medications. Rural residents lamented that the poor state of medical services in rural areas. Pensioners complained about cumbersome procedures for receiving insurance compensation for medical services at their actual places of residence. For medical personnel, this was an opportunity to speak directly to the government about the misconduct of hospital directors without publicly revealing their names, as well as express their dissatisfaction about low wages, stress, overwork, and abuse by patients. (NDRC 2008). Yet, in spite of the

frequency of these complaints many of the responses, written by people from the medical industry, did not only include the expression of grievances, but concrete recommendations on how to improve and refine the proposed reform plan. The responses suggest that the search for both legitimacy and information triggered the introduction of this participatory.

The government's response to the online consultation also validates both theories. The government's reaction to the people's complaints epitomized a resort to populism for the purpose of mollifying the public. Following the public lament on the inadequacy of the system and the high prices of medical services, the government decided to hasten its effort to overhaul China's medical system. While the first draft stipulated that in 2010 the government would engage in the preliminary stage of constructing a basic healthcare system, in the revised version it was changed into a more ambitious plan--from 2009 to 2011, the government would fulfill the five key points of the healthcare reform, including the completion of a construction of a basic medical system. In addition, it was also mentioned that by 2011 the government would seek to provide medical coverage to 90% of the population (Wang 2009c). In the final plan, the government subsidy for purchasing insurance was increased to 120 Yuan per year, and the plan determined a very high sum as the maximum insurance compensation available--6 times the average salary of a locality. The measures to speed up the implementation of the policy do not necessarily contribute to the refinement of the government policies, since acquiring the know-how for an overhaul China's healthcare is likely to be a protracted process. But, for the short term, these revisions could please the public, and enhance the government's legitimacy.

However, the government's response to the feedback from this portal also shows that the framework of 'information gathering' is tenable. In the final draft of the healthcare reform, the government, following the public's suggestions, endorsed several changes that could lead to technical improvements in the policymaking process. For example, after senior citizens retiring in cities where they are not registered as residents complained about the cumbersome procedures for receiving insurance compensation in their new places of residence, the new plan stipulated that simplification of this process for pensioners (Wang Hufeng 2009; 205). Following complaints by medical personnel about overwork and abuse by patients, the new draft announced an increase in the number of nurses per patients, as well as a commitment to improve their working conditions, and protect their legal rights (Wang Hufeng 2009; 220-221). Rather than being influenced by populist tendencies, these changes are of technical nature, and serve to improve the quality of the policy in very specific domains. This establishes that the purpose of initiating this participatory forum, aside from garnering legitimacy, was to gather information. As for FA, there is no evidence that this type of participation was pursued due to conflicts within the bureaucracy.

## 3.6 Mass Media: Amplification of the Online Portal

Concomitantly to the inauguration of the second online portal, the media--following premier Wen Jiabao's call for the public to openly express their views--also started to actively seek to interview the main stakeholders in the reform--hospital directors, medical doctors, representatives of pharmaceutical companies and patients. The media covered the meetings of the professional associations of these stakeholders and their key suggestions to the government.

As in the case of the second online portal, the timing of participation via mass media could certainly attest to the fact that the government was concerned about legitimacy. This media effort started only after the key principles of this reform had been determined. In addition, the time slated for this participatory forum was also very short, only one month--from mid-October to mid-November. Whereas expert intellectuals debated the healthcare reform for several years, from the outset, this short spell of discussion provided stakeholders with a limited ability to impact policymaking. This could further indicate that this process was about obtaining legitimacy.

The selection of participants for this forum also suggests that the need to enhance legitimacy induced this participatory practice. Looking at the participants, we could see that the media endeavored to solicit the opinions of key stakeholders, such as patients, medical doctors, hospital directors, and representatives of pharmaceutical companies (Finance QQ 2008; JSChina 2008; People's Health.Net 2008; Sohu 2008; Sohu 2008a; Sohu 2008b; Sohu

2008d; Sohu 2008e). This may indicate that the principle of representation, an indicator for legitimacy, underwrote this type of participation via mass media.

The official discourse on this also stressed the responsiveness of the government. In Oct 2008, premier Wen Jiabao announced that the government was seeking for the views of the public on the healthcare reform (Xinhua 2008). In Jan 2009, after participation via mass media had ended, premier Wen Jiabao declared that the plan was viewed favorably by all sections of society, and that the government ministries absorbed many of the suggestions raised in the consultation process (Gov.cn 2009a). As in the case of the second online portal, while the premier emphasized broad participation, his statement overlooked the fact that in spite of the media's attempt at representation, the most visible group in the media were lobbyists for the pharmaceutical industry. The premier's declaration, which masked the deficit in participation of other stakeholders, suggests that the government utilized participation in order to justify the proposed plan. Aside from the official discourse, the degree of media coverage was high, and that could also indicate that the purpose of this strategy was to publicize the government's responsiveness.

The examination of the feedback generated through the media uncovers observable implications that are consistent with both legitimacy and information gathering. Some of the media reports consist of cursory interviews with stakeholders which elicited very predictable responses. For example, a patient complaining about the high drug prices, and says that he is looking forward to the introduction of a system of essential medicines. A doctor at a

community clinic complained about the low number patients visiting this clinic (Sohu 2008c). Other media reports, nevertheless, exposed the elaborate suggestions submitted to the government by key stakeholders: the pharmaceutical associations proposing to replace the suggested system of the central government selecting the manufacturers with an open and competitive bidding process. They also recommend that the market, rather than the government, would regulate the prices of essential and patented medicines (Pharma Tec.org 2008). In addition, hospital directors advocated the professionalization of the upper level of hospital managers. They also emphasized the need to train more family doctors (Sohu 2008a). A medical doctor urged the government to raise the prices of patients' registration fee and operations, so as to decrease the reliance of medical doctors on the sale of pharmaceuticals. For doctors who would still illegally take commissions on pharmaceuticals, she recommended to revoke their licenses (Yin 2008). The feedback from participation via the media included both predictable responses, and technical suggestions for efficiency and improvement.

Given the existing evidence currently available to me on the government's responses to this participatory forum, it is still difficult to clearly identify the mechanisms at work. The government responded to some of the feedback, yet we do not know whether the responses stemmed from a genuine attempt to gather information, or because of the power of the respondents--representatives of the pharmaceutical industry.

In the aftermath of consultation via the media, the government adjusted its policies of procurement of essential medicines. The earlier draft stipulated that the central government would, via bidding, select key manufacturers, or collectively purchase, in a form of direct delivery, essential medicines. While guaranteeing a reasonable profit rate for manufacturers, the central government would set unitary retail prices for essential medicines (Wang Hufeng 2009; 207). Pharmaceutical associations utilized the media in order to launch a public campaign against these centralized procurement system, which, they argued, would limit competition and eliminate many of the pharmaceutical companies (Sohu 2008; Yang 2009; Zhang 2009). Due to their complaints, the government altered the system of procurement of essential medicines. Rather than direct delivery, there would be a unitary delivery system, yet wholesalers would be able to participate. In addition, instead of central government's control over the process, the unitary system would be managed by provincial governments, which will use a bidding process open to participants from all the country rather than small portion of selected manufacturers. In addition, while the central government would maintain the right to set the guiding retail price for essential medicines, the actual prices would be determined by the provinces according to the bidding conditions (Wang Hufeng 2009; 207)--a measure that would allow for more flexibility in setting prices, and for adjusting it to local market conditions.

These changes do not necessarily validate 'information gathering', as it is likely that the government listened to the pharmaceutical associations not because of an endeavor to refine

policymaking, but as a response to pressures from a powerful industry. According to a media report, the government actively sought to discuss these policies with representatives of the pharmaceutical industry, and also invited them for direct consultation (Yang 2009). One may wonder whether such efforts to mollify the pharmaceutical industry were also launched with respect to less powerful stakeholders. For example, the government did not strive to find quick responses to hospital directors' outcry for a new system of government funding for hospitals that would reduce their reliance on the sale of pharmaceuticals. Doctors also complained about low salary and reliance on pharmaceuticals—but, the government has not found swift solutions for this problem. This may suggest that legitimacy was the essence of this participation forum.

It is, nevertheless, possible that that the government endorsed some of the proposals raised by others through the mass media. For example, one of the medical doctors urged the government to increase the prices of registration fees and operations for medical doctors. A complementary government document from November 2009 stipulated an increase in the prices of medical treatment, nursing, operation, and other types of skilled work conducted by medical personnel (NDRC 2009; 3). It is possible that this was done due to feedback from medical doctors, though we have no clear evidence about it, and, thus, it is difficult to ascertain it. But, here too, I have not been able to establish a direct causal link between the hospitals director's suggestions and the government's documents.

Analyzing the design of this participatory forum, it is evident that this highly publicized procedure was set up in order to enhance the government's legitimacy, and demonstrate that it seeks the advice of all the relevant stakeholders. Additional research on it, however, may reveal that this procedure, though primarily intended for garnering public support, was also designed in order to gather feedback. FA does not appear to be relevant here.

## **Conclusion**

Analyzing the instances of participation in the case of the healthcare reform, we can detect a diffuse set of causes that undergirded participation. First, unsettled disputes inside the bureaucracy over parochial interests and protection of one's turf led the contending parties to open the policymaking process for the participation of expert intellectuals. Even though FA was not the primary cause for the emergence of a lively, high-profile public debate dominated by these intellectuals, the interaction of FA with another cause--an ongoing elite debate over the course of China's development trajectory--fueled the intensification of this debate. Second, the quest of an authoritarian government to enhance its legitimacy led to the introduction of a myriad of participatory practices which the government belabored to publicize, in order to showcase its responsiveness to society, as well as its commitment to allow for representation of diverse groups. Among the participatory practices initiated in order to enhance legitimacy were the "Two Meetings", a face to face meeting of representatives of the public with the premier, the second online portal, and participation via mass media. The introduction of these participatory forums, however, not only stemmed from the government's endeavor to obtain legitimacy, but also from a third cause--the need of an authoritarian regime to gather information from both experts and professionals and the general public. Participatory practices such as the "Two Meetings", the first online portal and the second online portal were more than a public relations stratagems. Even though in some cases, notably the second online portal, the government embraced a populist response to the

public demands, in other cases, the government seriously considered the content of responses, and took measures to implement some of the technical advice received in this process.

Similarly, the government's endorsement of some of the technical advice of expert intellectuals could also indicate that their invitation to solicit blueprints for reform, though primarily motivated by the need to overcome bureaucratic wrangles, was also a genuine attempt to improve policymaking. A fusion of different causes interacted here to generate these elaborate forums of participation.

The drafting of the new healthcare reform evinced a process of extensive participation, where diverse groups were targeted. Participation included not only an elite of expert intellectuals, or professionals working inside the medical industry, but also medical personnel at the grassroots level of the medical system, and low income groups. In addition to including a direct, face to face interaction between participants and leaders of the government, the latter created forums for broad, voluntary participation of the general public through both online portals, and mass media.

These broad and elaborate outlets for participation attest to an emerging form of participatory policymaking process in authoritarian regimes. The insights gained in this study, though still preliminary and in need of further theoretical refinement and empirical details, are relevant to the analysis of other instances of policymaking in China, particularly those that directly affect the lives of the general public. The Hu-Wen era, when the government, under the rubric of 'harmonious society', introduced various welfare policies, and also the

upcoming years, when the continuation of economic reforms is expected to require the revision and reformulation of new social policies, may be a fertile ground for applying and polishing the framework of this study. Notable cases may be those of the Labor Contract Law, Education Reform and the New Marriage Law in which the Chinese government also enacted various forums for participation. And, perhaps, a comparison with cases of drafting of social policies, such as the Construction of New Socialist Countryside, where public participation has not been elicited, could also help to strengthen the theoretical foundations of this study.

In addition, this paper may offer a platform for going beyond FA--the dominant paradigm for the study of policymaking in China. It shows that in investigating policymaking, we are required to be to attentive to other types of causes that may prompt participation, such as the quest for legitimacy and the need to gather information.

One of the emerging frameworks that could potentially constitute an alternative or complimentary paradigm to FA is "Authoritarian Deliberation". This paper concurs with He and Warren's contention that in China "consultative processes often shade into deliberative processes" (He and Warren 2011; 274). This could certainly be said about the discussions at the "Two Meetings". Members of these assemblies consulted the government, yet, their discussions and debates exerted a persuasive influence over the government's decisions. As for the participation of expert intellectuals, we can recognize that they both attended a closed consultation process with the government, and a public debate that turned into deliberation. The debate had its roots in a fierce ideological struggle over the course of China's

development yet, this debate has evolved into an informative process of discussion and deliberation between intellectuals and concerned journalists. It is possible that this debate also had a persuasive influence over both the public and decision makers, at least, in so far as it framed the debate on reform as that of government vs. market. Internet portals and participation of stakeholders via mass media also evinced some forms of deliberation. Diverse voices made public are more than consultation. They create a discursive influence over those who listen to these discourses, including decision makers, even if they do not follow what was suggested. These forms of "authoritarian deliberation", however, have significant limitations. Since in "an authoritarian regime, elites control the domain and scope of deliberation, and limit citizens' capacities to put issues into the political agenda" (He and Warren 2010; 274), deliberation among intellectuals and members of the "Two Meetings" often unfolded as a technical discussion. Aside from technical solutions, a key issue for the success of reform, the impact of the current political system on the performance of medical services in China--particularly, the weakness of the legal system and the absence of accountability and proper norms--on the operation of China's healthcare system was off the limits. Since deliberation was conducted under an authoritarian system, broad participation via internet and mass media was also constrained. Even if these public outlets had the potential to elicit a deliberative interaction among participants, most of the respondents addressed their concerns to the government, since only the government had veto power over

the process. Authoritarian deliberation was often delimited to communication between the citizens and the government--not among the citizens.

Beyond adding more empirical knowledge on deliberation in China, this paper could also be relevant to other countries. It would probably be most relevant to regimes that seek to accomplish more than just clinging to authoritarian power. Particularly to autocrats who embrace a developmental agenda, and seek to have their countries integrate into the global economic system--a goal that could be realized only through the collaboration and participation of the public. Even though other developmental authoritarian systems may not introduce deliberation, and may lack some of the notable features of China's political system, most notably fragmented authoritarianism, they all grapple with a similar dilemma--how to both elicit and contain participation--and often introduce limited participatory practices to overcome this dilemma. Since these regimes are still exploring these practices, and they may be learning for each other, this work could apply to non-Chinese contexts.

A discussion on participatory practices in China entices us to reflect about their potential to generate significant political change--regime change, democratization or a substantial political reform. Judging from the empirical material gathered here, we could say that it is unlikely that these practices would precipitate such outcomes. As we've seen in this paper, participatory practices has been designed in order to accomplish functionalist goals in a risk-averse manner. Even if participation is broadened, the government tightly controls the forums, maintains its veto power over policymaking, and, most importantly, it still dictates

the discourses that dominate the public sphere, setting taboos for issues that could challenge its authoritarian position. These practices cannot lead to democratization precisely because they are set up to in order to avoid it. To find the mechanism that could generate political change, would require us to look at pressures from below which could take place due to intensification of a myriad of social problems and consequent public disillusionment with the Chinese Communist Party's ability to solve them.

## **Bibliography**

- 21cbh. 2008. "Weishengbu fubuzhang Huang Jiefu: shouzhi liang tiaoxian gaige fangxiang cunyi" [The Deputy Minister at the MOH, Huang Jiefu: Doubts about the Direction of the *shouzhi liang tiaoxian* Reform] (<a href="http://www.21cbh.com/HTML/2009-3-9/HTML\_A4NJWIT2K8Q9.html">http://www.21cbh.com/HTML/2009-3-9/HTML\_A4NJWIT2K8Q9.html</a>) (accessed 9 Aug 2011)
- Baidu. 2006. "Wo wei yigai jianyan xiance" [My Advice and Suggestions regarding the Healthcare reform" (10 October, 2006) (<a href="http://tieba.baidu.com/f?kz=139205097">http://tieba.baidu.com/f?kz=139205097</a>), (accessed June 10, 2011)
- CCTV. 2008. "Ma Wenfang: cong xiangcun yisheng dao renda daibiao" [Ma Wefang: The Village Doctor Coming to the National People's Congress) (23 March 2008) (http://space.tv.cctv.com/video/VIDE1206321305506474) (accessed 14 June 2011)
- CCTV 2006 "Xin yigai tan xin luzi: fagaiwei kaimen neiyan weishengbu bulun moshi" The New Healthcare Reform Explores a New Way: NDRC Opens Its Gate Accepting Speech, MOH Does Not Mind this Style" (11 October, 2006) (http://news.cctv.com/china/20061011/100223.shtml) (accessed 10 June, 2011)
- China. com. 2010. "guanyu jinyibu guli he yindao shehui ziben juban yiliao jigou de yijian" [Opinion On Further Encouraging and Guiding Social Capital to Run Medical Institutions] (<a href="http://www.china.com.cn/policy/txt/2010-12/06/content\_21485199.htm">http://www.china.com.cn/policy/txt/2010-12/06/content\_21485199.htm</a>) (8 Aug 2011)
- China Economics.net (2008) "Xin yigai fangan gong zhengqiu san wanqian yu tiao yijian he jianyi" [More than 30,000 Public 'Seeking Views' Views and Suggestions on the New Healthcare Reform] *China Economics.net* (3 January, 2010) <a href="http://www.ce.cn/cysc/ztpd/09/yl/bs/200903/03/t20090303\_18381288.shtml">http://www.ce.cn/cysc/ztpd/09/yl/bs/200903/03/t20090303\_18381288.shtml</a> (accessed 10 June, 2011)
- Chinanews (2008) "Weishengbu fubuzhang xianyou yigai fangan huo ling yuanzhangmen shiwang" [Deputy Minister of Health: "The Current Blueprints Cause Hospital Directors to Lose Hope] (5 March,

- 2008) <a href="http://www.chinanews.com.cn/jk/ylgg/news/2008/03-05/1182018.shtml">http://www.chinanews.com.cn/jk/ylgg/news/2008/03-05/1182018.shtml</a> (accessed Aug 11, 2010)
- Du Lexun and Zhang Wenming. 2007. *Zhongguo Yi Liao Wei Sheng Fa Zhan Bao Gao* [The Development Report on China's Health]. Beijing: Social Science Documents Press.
- Finance QQ. 2008. "Shanghai tuixiu yisheng Chen Xiaolan "wanyanshu" zhizhi yigai de shibi" [A Ten Thousand Word Book by the Retired Shanghai Doctor, Chen Xiaolan, Points Out the Ills of Healthcare reform" (24 February 2008) (<a href="http://finance.qq.com/a/20090224/003031\_1.htm">http://finance.qq.com/a/20090224/003031\_1.htm</a>) (accessed 15 May 2010)
- Gandhi, Jennifer. 2008. *Political Institutions under Dictatorship*. N.Y: Cambridge University Press.
- Gilley, Bruce. 2004. *China's Democratic Future: How It Will Happen and Where It Will Lead.*New York: Columbia University Press.
- Gov.cn 2009a "Guowuyuan changwu huiyi shenyi bing tongguo yiyao weisheng tizhi gaige" [The Standing Committee of the State Council Reviewed and Passed the Healthcare System Reform" (21 January 2009) (http://www.gov.cn/ldhd/2009-01/21/content\_1211859.htm) (accessed 11 June 2011)
- Guo Baogang. 2010. China's Quest for Political Legitimacy: The New Equity Enhancing Politics. Lanham. Lexington Books.
- He, Baogang, and Mark E. Warren. 2011. "Authoritarian Deliberation: The Deliberative Turn in Chinese Political Development." *Perspectives on Politics* 9 (02): 269-289.
- Health Net 2008 "Yiyuan dui xin yigai fangan tichu butong de yijian quxiao yaopin jiajia shangbu changshu" [Hospitals Express Different Opinions Regarding the Blueprint for Healthcare Reform: Abolishing the Mark-Up Is Premature] (16 October, 2008) <a href="http://cj.39.net/ylhy/xwdt/zcfg/0810/16/683907.html">http://cj.39.net/ylhy/xwdt/zcfg/0810/16/683907.html</a> (accessed 3 June, 2010)
- Jayasuriya, K., and G. Rodan. 2007. "Beyond hybrid regimes: more participation, less contestation in Southeast Asia." *Democratization* 14 (5): 773–794.

- Jennings, Kent. 1997. "Political Pluralization in the Chinese Countryside". *American Political Science Review.* 91 2. 361-372.
- Joy.cn. (11 March 2009). "Minzhu xijie: yigai taolun zhong de jiaofeng" [Democracy in Details: The Confrontation in the Discussion on the Healthcare Reform] (<a href="http://news.joy.cn/video/327670.htm">http://news.joy.cn/video/327670.htm</a>) (accessed 4 August 2011)
- Jr, Alfred Evans. 2010. "The Public Chamber and Social Conflicts in Russia." *SSRN eLibrary* (April 3). <a href="http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1580284">http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1580284</a>.
- Kennedy, Scott. 2005. *The Business of Lobbying in China*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Lei, X., and W. Lin. 2009. "The New Cooperative Medical Scheme in rural China: does more coverage mean more service and better health?" *Health Economics* 18: 25–S46.
- Lieberthal, K. 1992. "Introduction: The 'Fragmented Authoritarianism' Model and Its Limitations" In *Bureaucracy, politics, and decision making in post-Mao China*, 1-30. Oxford. University of California press.
- Lieberthal, K., and M. Oksenberg. 1990. *Policy making in China: leaders, structures, and processes*. Princeton. Princeton University Press.
- Li Ling, 2010 *Jiankang qingguo: li ling huayigai* [Health for Making the Country Strong: Li Ling Discusses the Healthcare Reform]. Beijing. Beijing University Press.
- Lin, W., G. G Liu, and G. Chen. 2009. "The Urban Resident Basic Medical Insurance: a landmark reform towards universal coverage in China." *Health Economics* 18: 83–S96.
- Liu Guo'en. 2009. "Xin yigai fang'an: youxian de jinbu" [The New Blueprint of the Healthcare Reform: Limited Progress]. *Guanghua Cyber Academia*. (http://w3.gsm.pku.edu.cn/store/detail/2008641795020071029144656Article\_asp?articleId=5326&Columnid=1193&view=) (accessed 11 Aug 2011)

- Manion, Melanie. 1996. "The Electoral Connection in the Chinese Countryside". *American Political Science Review.* 90, 736-748.
- Mertha, Andrew .2009. "Fragmented Authoritarianism 2.0". *The China Quarterly*. v1.200: 995-1012.
- MOH 2007 "2006 nian weisheng gongzuo jinzhan" [2006 Health Work Progress] NDRC 2007 ""Wo wei yigai jianyan xiance" [My Advice and Suggestions regarding the Healthcare reform" (<a href="http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/yjzx/yjzx\_list2.jsp?SiteId=12">http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/yjzx/yjzx\_list2.jsp?SiteId=12</a>) (accessed 10 June, 2010)
- NDRC 2008 "Guanyu shenhua yiyao tizhi gaige de yijian: zhengqiu yijian: gongkai zhengqiu: liu lan" ("Opinion on Deepening the Reform of the Healthcare System (Invitation to Openly Air Views: Browse Views") *National Development and Reform Commission* (<a href="http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/ygyj/ygyj\_list.jsp">http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/ygyj/ygyj\_list.jsp</a> (accessed on May 14, 2010)
- NDRC. 2009. "Gaige yaopin he yiliao fuwu jiage xingcheng jizhi de yijian" [Opinion on Reforming the Mechanisms of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Services' Prices] (<a href="http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbtz/2009tz/t20091123\_314758.htm">http://www.ndrc.gov.cn/zcfb/zcfbtz/2009tz/t20091123\_314758.htm</a>) (accessed 11 Aug 2011)
- Pei Minxin. 2006. *China's Trapped Transition: The Limits of Developmental Autocracy*. Cambridge. Harvard University Press.
- People.com. 2008. "xin yigai fang'an gong zhengqiu 3.5wan yu tiao yijian he jianyi" [More Than 35,000 Opinion and Suggestions in regard to the Blueprint for New Healthcare Reform] (15 November 2008) (<a href="http://politics.people.com.cn/GB/1026/8346261.html">http://politics.people.com.cn/GB/1026/8346261.html</a>) (accessed 11 June 2011)
- People.com .2009. "Chen Zhu: xin yigai yaojia huijiang wu cuoshe gaige gongli yiyuan" [Chen Zhu: In the healthcare Reform, the Prices of Pharmaceuticals Could Decrease, Five Measures to Reform Public Hospitals" (http://medicine.people.com.cn/GB/8913179.html) (accessed 4 August 2011)
- People.com. 2007. "Yigai caoan nian chutai guojia caizheng jiang jiada touru" [The Draft of the Healthcare Reform Will Be Introduced This Year: The State's Treasury Will

- Increase Funding] (8 March 2008) (http://politics.people.com.cn/GB/1026/5449518.html) (accessed 14 June 2011)
- People's Health.net 2008 "Shehui dui xinyigai de sishitiao jianyi" [Society's 14 Suggestions with Respect to the Healthcare Reform] *People's Health.net* (date unknown) (<a href="http://news.51qe.cn/yyzc/108977.html">http://news.51qe.cn/yyzc/108977.html</a>) (accessed 12 June 2011)
- Pharma Tec. 2008. "Shehui dui xinyigai de sishitiao jianyi" [Society's 14 Suggestions with Respect to the Healthcare Reform] (<a href="http://www.pharmtec.org.cn/news/zhyw/2008-11-13/7957.html">http://www.pharmtec.org.cn/news/zhyw/2008-11-13/7957.html</a>) (accessed 12 Aug 2011)
- Potter, P. B. 2010. "Dilemmas of Access to Healthcare in China." *China: An International Journal* 8 (1): 164–179.
- Richter, J. 2009. "Putin and the Public Chamber." *Post-Soviet Affairs* 25 (1): 39–65.
- Rodan, Garry, and Kanishka Jayasuriya. 2007. "The Technocratic Politics of Administrative Participation: Case Studies of Singapore and Vietnam." *Democratization* 14 (5): 795.
- Sina 2006 "Jian mianfei yiliao tixi juefei yigai fangxiang" [Constructing a Free Healthcare System Is definitely Not the Direction of the Healthcare Reform] (15 March 2006) (http://news.sina.com.cn/c/pl/2006-03-15/15209358066.shtml) (accessed 14 June 2011)
- Sina 2009 "Xin yigai fang'an gongbu: yibao zuigao xiane zeng zhi gongzi 6 liubei" [The Blueprint of New Healthcare Reform: the Highest Insurance Compensation Is Six Times the Salary] (7 April 2009) (http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2009-04-07/012017556893.shtml) (16 June 2011)
- Sohu 2007 "Yigai ba fang'an shouci jiti guotang shihang fang'an wei beilu" [The Healthcare Reform's 8 proposals are first unveiled, the World Bank's proposal has not be revealed yet] (5 June 2007) (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/20070605/n250401748.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20070605/n250401748.shtml</a>) (accessed 7 June 2011) (on the disputes among the people drafting the fudan proposal)
- Sohu 2008 "33 jia yiyao hangye lianzhu jianyi daxiu yigai fang'an" [33 Pharmaceutical Association Collectively Advise to Revise the Blueprint for Healthcare Reform] (3

- November, 2008) (<a href="http://news.sohu.com/20081103/n260397723.shtml">http://news.sohu.com/20081103/n260397723.shtml</a>) (accessed 3 June, 2010)
- Sohu 2008a"170 wei yuanzhang lian ming jianyan yigai" [170 Hospital Directors Collectively Raise Their Suggestions Regarding Healthcare Reform] (21 November, 2008) (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/20081121/n260778304\_1.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20081121/n260778304\_1.shtml</a>) (accessed 3 June 2010)
- Sohu 2008b "2008 lianghui baodao: xinyigai yuezhang: xin minsheng qidai" [Report from 2008's Two Meetings: The Healthcare Reform Is Approaching: New Livelihood Is Awaiting] (March 2008) (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/s2008/2008lianghui/">http://health.sohu.com/s2008/2008lianghui/</a>) (accessed 14 June 2011)
- Sohu. 2008c. "Xin yigai zongti fang'an "lianghui" tijiao 10 fang'an da pandian" [The Overall Blueprints for the New Healthcare: 10 Blueprints Submitted at the "Two Meeting"'s Big Inventory] (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/20080229/n255446221.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20080229/n255446221.shtml</a>) (accessed August 8 2011)
- Sohu 2008d "Yigai quxiao 15% yao jia jiacheng gongli yiyuan kong xianru juyun" [If the Healthcare Reform Abolishes the 15% Mark-Up Public Hospitals May Go Bankrupt] (19 Novemebr, 2008) (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/20081119/n260717745.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20081119/n260717745.shtml</a>) (accessed 2 June 2010)
- Sohu 2008e "Yigai zhengqiu yijian: shequ yisheng shou guwu dabing huanzhe fenhaoyao" [Seeking Views of the Healthcare Reform: Community Level Doctors Received Encouragement, Patients with Serious illnesses Are Expecting Better Medications] (16 October 2008) Yigai zhengqiu yijian: shequ yisheng shou guwu dabing huanzhe fenhaoyao <a href="http://health.sohu.com/20081016/n260064427.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20081016/n260064427.shtml</a> ( accessed 12 Aug, 2010)
- Sohu 2008f "Yiyuan yuanzhang: yiyao fenkai hou huanzhe yongyao anquan neng fou baozheng" [Hospital Director: Would It Be Possible to Protect the Safety of Patients after Pharmacies Are Separated From Hospitals] (24 October, 2008) <a href="http://health.sohu.com/20081024/n260232157.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20081024/n260232157.shtml</a> (accessed 3 June, 2010)

- Sohu. 2009. "2009 nian lianghui yigai baodao: xin yigai fang'an" [Reports from 2009's Two Meetings: The Blueprint of the New Healthcare Reform] (March 2009) (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/s2009/2009lianghui/">http://health.sohu.com/s2009/2009lianghui/</a>) (accessed 14 June 2011)
- Sohu 2009a. ("8500 yiyuan yigai touru xuanyi juexiao 2/3 buxufang 1/3 bugongfang" [The Secret of the 850 Billion Yuan Investment Is revealed: 2/3 for Demand-Side, 1/3 for Supply-Side] Sohu (9 April 2009) <a href="http://health.sohu.com/20090409/n263276274.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20090409/n263276274.shtml</a>) (accessed 5 March 2010)
- Thompson, Drew. 2009. In *China's capacity to manage infectious diseases: global implications; a report of the CSIS Freeman chair in China studies*, 57-78. Center for Strategic & Intl studies.
- Wagstaff, A., M. Lindelöw, and S. Wang. 2009. *Reforming China's rural health system*. World Bank Publications.
- Wang Hufeng. 2009. *Zhongguo xinyigai linian he zhengce* [New Healthcare Reform: Principle and Policy]. Beijing. China's Social Security Press.
- Wang Shiling 2006 "Weisheng bu jiuda yigai keti quanguo zhaobiao shiqida qian chutai fangan" [The MOH Gathers Suggestions for the 9 Major Issues of the Healthcare Reform: The New Proposal Will Appear Before the Party's 17th Congress] *Reference Materials on Decision Making for Hospital Leaders*, Vol.22, pp.23-26, 25
- Wang Shiling 2009 "8500 yiyuan yigai touru xuanyi juexiao 2/3 buxufang 1/3 bugongfang" [The Secret of the 850 Billion Yuan Investment Is revealed: 2/3 for Demand-Side, 1/3 for Supply-Side] Sohu (9 April 2009) http://health.sohu.com/20090409/n263276274.shtml) (accessed 5 March 2010
- Wang Shiling 2009a "Weishengbu: caizhengbu chumian, san fenzhi er xufang weisheng jiaofeng, touru xioalu cheng jiaodian" [MOH: MOF Decided Two Thirds of the Budget Would Go toward a Demand-Side Solution\_The Focal Point of Controversy on Healthcare Is the Efficiency of Public Investment] *Southern Weekend* (30 April 2009) (http://www.infzm.com/content/27835) (accessed 7 March 2010)
- Wang Shiling 2009b "Weishengbu, weisheng renbao, sinian zhenglun nanfen shangxia

- gongxu lianbu, muqian geju xiaoguo daijie" [ *Southern Weekend* (23 April 2009) (http://www.infzm.com/content/27458) (accessed 6 June 2011)
- Wang Shiling 2009c "Xinyigai fang'an: 6 ge yue li gaijin le shenme?" [The Blueprint of the New Healthcare Reform: What Has Changed in Six Months] *Southern Weekend* (8 April 2009) (<a href="http://www.infzm.com/content/26671">http://www.infzm.com/content/26671</a>) (accessed 16 June 2011)
- Wang Shiling 2009d "Yigai zhong de zhinang men" [The Think Tanks of the Healthcare Reform] 21 Century China Business Herald (14 April, 2009) (<a href="http://www.21cbh.com/HTML/2009-4-13/HTML\_EBIMSN42VBFD.html">http://www.21cbh.com/HTML/2009-4-13/HTML\_EBIMSN42VBFD.html</a>) (accessed 6 June 2011)
- Xinhua 2005 "Zhongyang guanyu jinyibu tuixing Zhengwu gongkai de yijian" [Central Government's Opinion on Further Advancement of Open Administration] (10 August 2005) (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/lianzheng/2005-08/10/content\_3333967.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/lianzheng/2005-08/10/content\_3333967.htm</a>) (15 June 2011)
- Xinhua 2006 "Yigai: fagaiwei xiang shehui zhengqiu yijian jianyi" [Healthcare Reform: NDRC Asks Society for Advice and Opinions" (10 October, 2006) (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/mrdx/2006-10/10/content\_5183871.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/mrdx/2006-10/10/content\_5183871.htm</a>) (10 June, 2011)
- Xinhua 2006a "Yigai xunlu manzu gongzhong liyi shi hexin" [In Search of a Way for the Healthcare Reform, Satisfying the People's Interests Is Key] (10 October 2006) (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/forum/2006-10/10/content\_5183320.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/forum/2006-10/10/content\_5183320.htm</a>) (accessed 10 June 2011)
- Xinhua. 2007. "Lianghui diaocha yigai zui shou guanzhu: zhengfu zhudao yide chengshu ci" [According to the "Two Meetings" Survey, the People, in relation to the Healthcare Reform, Are Most Concerned about the Government's Leading Role and Medical Ethics] (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2007-02/26/content\_5774021.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2007-02/26/content\_5774021.htm</a>) (accessed 12 Aug 2011)
- Xinhua 2008 "Guowuyuan chengwuhui shenyi: guanyu shenhua yiyao weisheng tizhi gaige de yijian" [The State's Council Executive Meeting Considers "Opinion on Deepening the Healthcare System Reform"] (10 September 2008) (http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2008-09/10/content 9906154.htm) (10 June 2011)

- Xinhua 2008a "Toulu yigai beihou bumen liyi: zhengfu guanzhi yiyao jia nanyi fubai" [Exposing the Interests of Departments behind the Healthcare Reform: With Governments' Control of Pharmaceuticals' Prices, It Is Difficult to Contain Corruption]
  (30 October, 2008)
  (http://news.xinhuanet.com/local/2008-10/30/content 10279432.htm) (6 June 2011)
- Xinhua 2008b "Wang yanshuo lianghui xilie liu: yigai jin zhunbei yipi hai bugou" [The Internet Speaks: The "Two Meetings" Sixth Series: <a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/forum/2008-03/10/content\_7748816.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/forum/2008-03/10/content\_7748816.htm</a> (accessed Aug 9 2011)
- Xinhua.2008c "Wen Jiabao zhuchi zhaokai shenhua weisheng tizhi gaige gongzuo zuotanhui" [Wen Jiabao Presides over the Work Forum on Deepening the Reform of the Healthcare System] (15 April 2008) (http://news.xinhuanet.com/newscenter/2008-04/15/content\_7981833.htm) (accessed 12 June 2011)
- Xinhua. 2008d. "Xin yigai zongti fang'an "lianghui" tijiao 10 fang'an da pandian" [The Overall Blueprints for the New Healthcare: 10 Blueprints Submitted at the "Two Meeting" Big Inventory] (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/fortune/2008-02/29/content\_7693180.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/fortune/2008-02/29/content\_7693180.htm</a>) (accessed 12 Aug 2011).
- Xinhua 2008e "Yigai dishitao fang'an tijiao guowuyuan: tichu jianli quanmin yibao tixi" [The 10th Blueprint for Healthcare Reform Was Submitted to the State Council: It Suggests Establishing a Universal Health Insurance System] *Xinhua.net* (26 October, 2008) (<a href="http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2008-02/26/content\_7672616.htm">http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2008-02/26/content\_7672616.htm</a>) (17 Aug. 2010)
- Xinhua 2008f "Yigai fang'an: duofang boyi fangshou "huizhen" zhixiao" [Blueprint for Healthcare Reform: Multiple Contestations, only Consultation with One Party May Be Effective] (4 November 2008) (http://news.xinhuanet.com/politics/2008-11/04/content\_10302072.htm(accessed) (11 June 2011)
- Yang Zhongxu. 2008 "Jielu yigai beihou bumen liyi: zhengfu guanzhi yaojia nayi fubai" [Exposing the Behind the Scene Government's Ministries Interests: Government's

- Control of Pharmaceuticals' Prices, It Is Difficult to Contain Corruption] *Sina* (http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2008-10-23/175316511967.shtml) (11 Aug, 2010)
- Yang Zhongxu. 2009. "Xin yigai zuihou boyi: shichanghua huigui jihua jingji de jiaofeng" [The Last Fight over Healthcare Reform: Marketization versus the Return to Planned Economy] *China Elections& Governance* (8 April, 2009) ( <a href="http://www.chinaelections.org/NewsInfo.asp?NewsID=146616">http://www.chinaelections.org/NewsInfo.asp?NewsID=146616</a>) (accessed 3 June 2010)
- Yin Jia. 2008. "Bu neng huode quanguo 500 wan yiwu renyuan zhenxin zhichi de yiliao gaige nanyi chenggong" [Healthcare Reform will not be Successful Without the Genuine Support of Medical Personnel] *Sohu* (<a href="http://health.sohu.com/20081022/n260172360.shtml">http://health.sohu.com/20081022/n260172360.shtml</a>) (accessed 15 May 2010)
- Yip, W., and W. C Hsiao. 2008. "The Chinese health system at a crossroads." *Health Affairs* 27 (2): 460.
- Zhang Shen. 2009. "Yu Mingde: xin yigai fangan cunzai liuda fenqi" [Yu Mingde: There Are 6 Controversies over the Healthcare Reform] Money.163.com (<a href="http://money.163.com/special/00253553/yudeming30y.html">http://money.163.com/special/00253553/yudeming30y.html</a>) (accessed 21 May, 2010)
- Zhao Yuezhi. 2008. Communications in China: Political Economy Power and Conflict. Lanham. Roman & Littlefield Publishing.
- Zhu Youdi. 2011. *Da guo yigai* [Big Country's Healthcare Reform]. Beijing: Shijie tushu chuban gongsi beijing gongsi.